FILED

JUN 02, 2015

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 326951

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION THREE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

State of Washington,

Respondent,

v.

Oscar Alfred Alden,

Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM DOUGLAS COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT Honorable Hon. John Hotchkiss

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

James E. Lobsenz, WSBA #8787 CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104-7010 Telephone: (206) 622-8020 Facsimile: (206) 467-8215

Attorneys for Appellant

I. INTRODUCTION

Oscar Alden shot and killed Tom Maks. He testified that he shot instinctively in a "fear reaction" or "fear reflex" when Maks suddenly lunged towards him in the dark. RP 1185, 1200, 1202. Only minutes prior to the shooting, Maks, armed with a gun, had entered the house where Alden and his friends were sleeping, where he threatened to shoot Eric Hanson; threatened to kill all Alden's friends by throwing them off the deck of the house; tipped over the chair that Alden had been sleeping in; punched Alden in the stomach; told Alden he was going to chop off his dick and feed it to his dog; and slapped Alden's friend Dane Meier in the head. Fearing for the safety of his friends, two of whom were fighting with Maks, Alden ran to his car and retrieved his own gun. As he rounded a parked car, Alden suddenly saw Maks lunging towards him. Believing that Maks was about to shoot and kill him, Alden fired the one shot that killed Maks. Alden testified that he fired in self-defense.

The trial judge prohibited Alden from presenting *res gestae* evidence that a few hours earlier that evening, Maks assaulted one woman and tried to pick a fight with another. The court also prohibited Alden's friends from testifying that Alden had a reputation for peacefulness.

In closing argument the prosecutor misstated the law regarding the burden of proof with respect to self-defense and Alden's counsel failed to object. RP 1286. The "to-convict" instruction listed three elements of Murder 2°, but *omitted* the element of the absence of self-defense and erroneously informed the jury that "[i]f you find from the evidence that

each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, *then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty.*" CP 313 (italics added).

During deliberations the jury asked the trial judge, "Do we need to convict on both" Murder 2° and Manslaughter 1°? CP 302. Even though there was only one killing, the trial judge responded that one of the jury's options was to convict Alden of *both* offenses. CP 302. The jury returned verdicts finding Alden guilty of both Murder 2° and Manslaughter 1°. Although the jury returned *four* verdicts (two general verdicts on the two crimes charged and two special verdicts pertaining to firearm allegations) when polling the jury the trial judge only asked the jurors if "the verdict" – singular – was their verdict and the verdict of the jury. The parties later realized that it would violate double jeopardy to find Alden guilty of both murder and manslaughter, and so the manslaughter verdict was vacated.

At sentencing Alden asked the court to find that there were two statutory mitigating factors. He pointed to the undisputed evidence that Maks initiated and provoked the incident that led to his death, and to the evidence that Maks' threatening behavior significantly affected Alden's conduct even though it was not accepted as a complete defense. Without denying that the evidence established both of these mitigating factors, the sentencing judge simply stated that he would not impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range because that would be "offensive" to Maks' family and friends, and to the jury. RP 1563.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Appellant assigns error to:

- 1. The trial judge's response to the jury's question: "Do we need to convict on both counts?"
- 2. The trial judge's exclusion of evidence that earlier in the day on which he was killed Thomas Maks physically assaulted one woman (Tedders) and tried to provoke a fight with another (Flores).
- 3. The trial judge's exclusion of evidence that the defendant had a reputation for being a peaceful, nonviolent person.
- 4. Jury Instruction No. 7, the "to-convict" instruction for the crime of murder in the second degree (Copy attached as Appendix A).
- 5. Defense counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's misstatement of the law when he told the jury what had to be shown "in order for you to return a not guilty verdict by reason of self-defense." RP 1386.
- 6. The trial judge's refusal to impose an exceptional sentence below the standard range because that would be "offensive" to the victim's family, and to the jury.

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The jury sent the trial judge an inquiry stating that they were "confused on the charging decisions we are to make" regarding Murder 2° and Manslaughter 1°, and asking "Do we need to convict on both counts?" The trial judge responded that the jury could find him "guilty of either or both." Was the defendant deprived of his constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict by this response?
- 2. Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by excluding evidence of the victim's assaultive and belligerent behavior which occurred within six hours of the shooting notwithstanding the *res gestae* rule that acts which are part of an unbroken sequence of events, and which are close in time to the final event, are admissible to show the actor's conduct or state of mind?
- 3. Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by excluding defense

testimony that the defendant had a reputation for peacefulness on the ground that college and high school friends of the defendant did not constitute a sufficient "community" for purposes of reputation testimony?

- 4. Did the failure of Instruction No. 7 to include the absence of self-defense in the list of the elements of murder in the second degree, deprive the defendant of his due process right to proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every element of the crime?
- 5. Was the defendant denied his right to effective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to object to the prosecutor's closing argument statement which shifted the burden of proof by erroneously telling the jury what had to be shown "in order for you to return a not guilty verdict by reason of self-defense" (RP 1386), instead of stating that the absence of self-defense had to be shown in order for the jury to return a guilty verdict?
- 6. By refusing to consider imposing an exceptional sentence below the standard range because such a sentence would be "offensive" to the victim's family and friends, did the trial judge deprive the appellant of his due process right to an independent and neutral magistrate?
- 7. Is it an abuse of discretion, and/or unconstitutional, to allow the family of the victim to veto a proposed exceptional sentence below the standard range?
- 8. Is it an abuse of discretion, and/or unconstitutional, to refuse to impose an exceptional sentence because it would offend the jury?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

Initially, Alden was charged with a single offense: Murder 2°. CP 1-2. Then, in an Amended Information, he was charged with *two* offenses: Murder 2° and Manslaughter 1°. CP 181-82. Manslaughter 1° was charged as an "alternative" to Murder 2° as follows:

COUNT II - MANSLAUGHTER IN THE FIRST DEGREE

In the alternative to Count I – Murder in the Second Degree and as a lesser included offense, the Plaintiff alleges: . . . the abovenamed Defendant did recklessly cause the death of another person .

CP 182 (emphasis added).

Finally, in a *Second* Amended Information, Alden was charged with the same two offenses, but all the previous language about charging Manslaughter 1° as an "alternative" to Murder 1°, and about Manslaughter 1° being a "lesser included offense" was deleted. CP 194. The Second Amended Information was filed on the very first day of trial. RP 160. No one informed the trial judge of the difference between the first amended information and the second amended information; no one mentioned the elimination of the previous language that had charged the two crimes in the alternative; and no one explained why the Second Amended Information was being filed. Alden was tried on the Second Amended Information and the jury found Alden guilty of *both* Murder 2° and Manslaughter 1. CP 334-37.

At no time before or during trial did Alden's defense counsel challenge the propriety of charging Alden with both Murder 2° and Manslaughter 1° for the same killing of the same person. But after the jury verdicts had been returned, but before sentencing, defense counsel realized

¹ Defense counsel made no objection to the filing of the second amended information. RP 160. Instead, defense counsel simply stated, "my client is aware of the amended – second amended Information. He will waive formal reading, we'll be entering a plea of not guilty to both charges." RP 160.

that it would be a double jeopardy violation to convict Alden of both crimes because on the facts of this case that would amount to multiple punishment for the same offense. Accordingly, defense counsel raised this issue in his sentencing memorandum, arguing that Alden "cannot be punished, sentenced or have a criminal history that includes more than a single conviction since Oscar's actions amount to a single transaction." CP 415. Relying upon *State v. Turner*, 169 Wn.2d 448, 454, 238 P.3d 461 (2010), defense counsel argued that the double jeopardy clauses of the Fifth Amendment and art. I, § 9 prohibited punishing Alden for both Murder 2° and Manslaughter 1°. CP 416.

The prosecutor stated on the record that "the State agrees" and therefore the State moved for dismissal of the Manslaughter 1 charge. RP 1505. The trial court granted that motion. CP 422.

Alden was sentenced to prison for 231 months (19 years and 3 months). CP 425. Alden filed timely notice of appeal. CP 436.

B. Statement of Facts

1. Testimony of prosecution witnesses

In June of 2013, Dayton Wiseman invited several friends, including Oscar Alden, to help him celebrate his 23rd birthday by spending the weekend at his family's vacation home. RP 324. Wiseman and his roommate Dan Ptacek arrived at the house on Thursday night. RP 332, 350. On Friday night, Raymond Roberts (age 23), Victoria Lincoln (age 24), Andrew Ross (age 26), Sarah Chase, Eric Hansen (age 23), Oscar Alden (age 25) and Jordan Court arrived at the Wiseman house. RP 368,

488, 491, 596, 663, 958, 1059. Dane Meier (age 24) arrived on Saturday around 5 p.m. RP 368, 372.²

Tom Maks lived in the house next door. RP 330. On Saturday around noon Maks came over to the Wiseman house asking if anyone had any ammunition he could have, and eventually Ray Roberts traded Maks some bullets in exchange for a bag of marijuana. RP 492-93, 551.³

On Saturday evening most⁴ of the group decided to go out drinking in Chelan. RP 332. Meier invited Maks to go along with them. RP 334, 381. Maks rode in Hansen's car along with Lincoln. RP 629. Lincoln felt Maks was already intoxicated and aggressive. RP 630.⁵

The group left for Chelan around 9:30 or 10 p.m. RP 335. They went to a bar called Tin Lizzie's where Maks got very intoxicated. RP 337, 374, 787. When they left the bar, somewhere between midnight and 1 a.m., they left Maks behind. RP 375. When they got back to Wiseman's house they all went to sleep. RP 377.

A few hours later Tom Maks entered the Wiseman home, went up to the second floor of the house and caused a disturbance. He was angry that he had been left behind in Chelan without a ride home. RP 643, 793. Roberts woke up and heard Maks making "remarks about killing people,"

² The ages listed are their ages as of the time of trial.

³ Jordan Court, called as a defense witness, confirmed that he was present and that he saw Roberts make this trade. RP 906-07.

⁴ Roberts stayed at the house. RP 494.

⁵ Eric Hansen, who testified as a defense witness, also testified that Maks seemed intoxicated when they left for Chelan. RP 975.

fattest to smallest, throwing them off the deck, and he had a wine glass" in his hand. RP 495, 389, 606. Maks also threatened to shoot Eric Hansen. RP 992.⁶ Maks was drunk and he was yelling and using vulgarities. RP 384, 442, 500, 675. Roberts, Ross and Chase all saw that Maks had a pistol tucked into the small of his back. RP 496-98, 679, 727, 729, 795. Lincoln also saw the handle of the gun. RP 610.

Maks grabbed Meier's leg and shook it. RP 385. He grabbed Victoria Lincoln by the face and shook her face. RP 386, 605. He moved over to the chair that Alden was sleeping in and he forcefully flipped the chair over, causing Alden to fall out of the chair onto the floor. RP 386-87, 495. Meier heard someone say "Call the cops." RP 447.

Chase told Maks she was calling the cops and that he needed to leave. RP 796. Eventually Roberts and Meier were able to calm Maks down enough to persuade him to leave the house. RP 392, 609. They walked him downstairs and out the sliding glass door on the first floor. RP 392-93, 498. Maks walked off towards his own home but Meier could not tell where he went. RP 452. Roberts, however, says he saw Maks walk back to his own house and enter it. RP 502. Roberts and Meier remained outside and waited for police to arrive. RP 452, 503. Roberts was afraid Maks might vandalize their cars. RP 503. Then Maks came

⁶ Hansen, who testified as a defense witness, said that he woke up when someone kicked him and he found Maks standing over him. RP 991. Maks said to Hansen: "How about I give you one on the left, one to the right, and one down the center." RP 992. Hansen asked Maks, "Is that a gun threat?" and Maks replied, "It is what it is." RP 992. Hansen told Maks, if that is a gun threat I'm going to call the cops," and Maks then "stammered off somewhere else in the room." RP 992.

back to the Wiseman home. RP 396, 505.⁷

When Maks returned he again confronted Roberts and Meier. They asked him to leave and told him the police were on their way but Maks wouldn't leave. RP 509. Meier was worried because he had heard people in the house yelling that Maks had a gun. RP 401. Roberts said to Maks, "If you didn't have your gun I'd kick your ass right now." RP 400, 508. In reply Maks lifted his shirt up and spun around in a pirouette "almost like he was saying 'I don't have it [the gun] now." RP 401, 455. Maks yelled at Roberts, "I'm going to take my pants off so you can suck my dick." RP 456, 569. Then Maks took off his shirt, pants, and flip flops, leaving himself dressed only in his underwear. RP 402, 456, 510.

Maks then slapped Meier in the head, and Meier then slapped him back. RP 404, 456-57, 514. Maks stumbled backwards and Roberts began punching him. RP 405, 458, 515. Maks fell down on the ground. RP 407. Roberts told Alden to get his gun and Alden ran to his car to get it. 521, 523. Ross also went to his car and got his pistol. RP 735.

According to Meier, Maks was then in a position that was somewhere between standing on his feet and lying on the ground, and he was moving his body up and down. RP 408, 410. At this moment Alden and Ross came walking briskly around the front of Meier's parked car and suddenly encountered Maks. RP 412. Both Alden and Ross had pistols in

⁷ Wiseman said Maks was gone a minute or so before he came back and Roberts said he was gone for five to ten minutes. RP 396, 505. Ross said Maks was gone between 1 and five minutes. RP 733.

their hands. RP 523, 697. Alden was holding his gun out in front of him. RP 414. Ross also had his gun out in front of him and Ross was looking down the sights of the gun. RP 697. Roberts warned Alden, "Oscar, . . . have your gun out, have it ready, this guy is crazy." RP 415, 521.

According to Meier, Maks was moving when Alden shot him. RP 417. Meier said Maks "wasn't still and he wasn't completely upright." RP 417. He described Maks as "sort of halfway up." RP 466. Asked to describe Maks' movements Meier said, "It's not jerky but it wasn't slow. It was . . . I want to say like a little bit above normal speed." RP 419. On the other hand, Meier said he would not describe Maks' movement as "lunging" at anyone. RP 419. Meier said it appeared that Maks was trying to stand up and that he was moving his hands. RP 419, 420, 461. According to Roberts, Maks was not trying to stand up, and he was not making any major movements, but "maybe" he was reaching up with a hand a little bit. RP 526.

When Alden got to the front of the parked car he turned and shot Maks from a distance of two to three feet. RP 416, 462. After he was shot Maks crumpled to the ground. RP 420. Ross told Alden to unload his gun and to put it down and Alden did as Ross instructed. RP 421, 468, 528.

Police found Alden's .9 mm pistol just outside the Wiseman house where Alden set it down. RP 207. A neighbor found a .9 mm spent bullet in her driveway and it was determined that this bullet was fired from Alden's .9 mm pistol. RP 207-08, 241, 755.

Dr. Gina Fino, the Douglas County Medical Examiner, performed

an autopsy on Maks' body. RP 820, 825. She found three perforating (through and through) gunshot wounds all related to the one bullet that struck Maks. RP 830. The first wound was at the top and on the right side of Maks' forehead, and there was a corresponding exit wound behind his left ear; there was a second perforating wound in Maks' left upper arm; and there was a third perforating wound to the little finger of Maks' left hand. RP 830, 836, 838. Dr. Fino found no gunpowder stippling and no soot on the body; therefore she was unable to form any opinion regarding the distance between Maks and the gun when the gun was fired. RP 833.

She opined that the bullet first passed through Maks' head and then through his left arm. RP 839. Dr. Fino said she was simply unable to explain the gunshot wound to Maks' left finger:

And, then, somehow this left finger is also involved in a gunshot wound injury. That could be from a separate discharge of the weapon. If there's only evidence of one discharge of the weapon, then somehow that finger has to fit into the wound path and I can't be sure how.

RP 839. Dr. Fino was also unable to say exactly what position Maks' body was in when the shot was fired. RP 841, 859.

Both Maks' blood and his vitreous fluid was tested for alcohol; his blood alcohol was measured at 0.28% and his vitreous fluid was measured at 0.34%. RP 845.8 Dr. Fino testified that in order to produce these alcohol readings, assuming a "burn-off" rate of 0.02% per hour, Maks

⁸ Dr. Fino said that the vitreous alcohol reading is generally a more accurate measure of the true blood alcohol reading at the time of death. RP 846. She agreed that Maks' actual blood alcohol level may have been even higher at the time of his death. RP 868.

would have had to have consumed somewhere between 14 and 17 "standard" drinks. RP 848.

2. Testimony of the defendant and defense witnesses

Oscar Alden, age 25 (age 23 at the time of the incident), testified at trial. RP 1059. He drove over to Sun Cove on Friday with his friend Ray Roberts. RP 1063. On Saturday, when hewent to his car to retrieve something from the trunk, he met Maks for the first time. RP 1070. Maks approached Alden from behind, tapped him on the shoulder and said, "You're the guy that sold me the bullets." RP 1071. Alden jumped and replied that no, he was not the guy that traded bullets to Maks in exchange for a bag of marijuana, that was another guy (Ray Roberts). RP 1071.

Alden, who has attention deficit disorder, was holding a prescription bottle of Adderall in his hand when Maks approached him. RP 1072-73. Maks said that he had heard that someone staying in the Wiseman house had some Adderall, and he asked Alden what he wanted in exchange for some of his pills. RP 1074. Alden replied that he did not want to trade anything for his Adderall, but Maks kept pressuring him. RP 1075. Maks, who had a beer in his hand, flipped the cap of a beer bottle into the trunk of Alden's car, and then he apologized to Alden saying that was a rude thing to do. RP 1076. The bottle cap landed on top of Alden's open backpack. RP 1075. Maks reached inside the backpack, even though the bottle cap was on top of the pack and not inside it. RP 1076.

 $^{^{\}rm 9}$ Dane Meier also testified that Alden refused to give Maks any of his Adderall. RP 470.

Alden thought Maks was searching for his bottle of Adderall. RP 1076. Maks retrieved the bottle cap and put it in his pocket. RP 1077.

The next time Alden saw Maks was around 10 p.m. when the group was leaving Sun Cove to go into Chelan. RP 1079. Maks tapped on the window of Alden's car and asked if he could get a ride in Alden's car. RP 1081. Alden told him that he was a stranger and he did not feel comfortable giving him a ride. RP 1082. Maks ended up getting a ride with Eric Hansen. RP 629.

Arriving in Chelan Alden went into the Tin Lizzie bar along with the rest of the Wiseman group. RP 1083. Since Alden was a designated driver, he had only one drink. RP 1085. Shortly before leaving the bar, Maks asked Alden if Victoria Lincoln was his girlfriend and Alden said she was not. RP 1094.

When Alden got back to the Wiseman house he went to sleep in a chair. RP 1092, 1096. He woke up sometime later because Maks was in the room and he was yelling, "You guys left me in Chelan, you motherfuckers." RP 1097, 1099. Maks also complained that the group had several women and Maks "just want[ed] to skull fuck one for now." RP 1102. Maks turned over the chair that Alden was in and then asked Alden, "What are you staring at fat boy?" RP 1103. Then he punched Alden in the stomach saying, "Fuck you fat boy, I'm going to chop off your dick and feed it to my dog." RP 1103.

Alden saw that Maks had some black colored object with him and saw him tuck it into his back pocket. RP 1105. Alden thought it might be

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