**FILED**  
JUL 16, 2015  
Court of Appeals  
Division III  
State of Washington

No. 326951

COURT OF APPEALS  
DIVISION III  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

State of Washington, Respondent

v.

Oscar Alfred Alden, Appellant

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Ryan S. Valaas, WSBA #40695  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
Douglas County Courthouse  
P.O. BOX 360  
Waterville, WA 98858  
(509) 745-8535

##

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

In conclusion, there is no question that the jurors were properly instructed as to their duty to reach a unanimous verdict. The jury instructions clearly specified that the jurors must be unanimous and in agreement as to each verdict. Furthermore, there is no ambiguity as to which crimes the jury found Alden guilty of because each crime had its own verdict form. And as mentioned previously, this court does not need to examine the thoroughness of the jury polling where the court’s instructions to the jury make the unanimity requirement clear, and any errors as to the polling are waived because they were not preserved at the trial court level.

B. The trial court’s evidentiary rulings limiting the scope of the victim’s prior acts and limiting evidence of Alden’s reputation for peacefulness were not abuses of discretion.

In general, evidentiary rulings made by a trial court are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Benefiel*, 131 Wn. App. 651, 654, 128 P.3d 1251, 1252 (2006). An abuse of discretion only occurs when the trial

court's decision is "manifestly unreasonable, or is exercised on untenable grounds for untenable reasons." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d 229, 240, 937 P.2d 587 (1997)).

1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when limiting evidence of the victim's prior acts.

Alden attempts to argue the *res gestae* rule is an independent avenue for admissibility. This is not so. Rather, the *res gestae* rule is a conglomerated synthesis of the evidence rules, primarily ER 401 and 404. *See State v. Mutchler*, 53 Wn. App. 898, 901, 771 P.2d 1168 (1989).

The State apparently argues that *res gestae* is a separate ground for admissibility unrelated to ER 404(b). However when evidence of *res gestae* involves other crimes or acts, the evidence must meet the requirements of ER 404(b) . . . [Furthermore,] in deciding whether evidence of other crimes or acts is admissible for a proper purpose, the trial court must first consider the relevance of the evidence.

*Id.* (citing ER 404(b); *State v. Tharp*, 27 Wn. App. 198, 204, 616 P.2d 693 (1980); *State v. Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d 358, 361, 655 P.2d 697 (1982)).

Therefore, in order for the victim's prior acts to be admissible, they must be relevant and within one of the exceptions to ER 404(b). As the court correctly determined (and discussed *supra*), the prior acts would only have been relevant to the extent Alden was aware of them.

Although Alden cites to cases from other states to support his proposition that evidence of the victim's acts may still be relevant even if the defendant was unaware of them, Washington has taken the opposite position. *State v. Adamo*, 120 Wash. 268, 271, 207 P. 7 (1922). "Acts of the deceased may not be shown unless it appears they were brought to the knowledge of the defendant before he committed the crime charged." *Id.* "Prior violent incidents [of the victim] would be relevant to establish [a defendant's] reasonable apprehension on the night of the crime, **but only if it was shown that [the defendant] knew of those incidents**" (emphasis added). *State v. LeFaber*, 77 Wn. App. 766, 769, 893 P.2d 1140, 1143 (1995), *rev'd on other grounds in State v. LeFaber*, 128 Wn.2d 896, 913 P.2d 369 (1996); *see also State v. Walker*, 13 Wn. App. 545, 550, 536 P.2d 657 (1975) (holding that the victim's acts of violence were properly excluded because it was not established that the defendant knew of those acts).<sup>1</sup>

Although evidence of reputation for violence may be admissible even if it is unknown to a defendant for the purpose of proving who was the aggressor, this reputation evidence must be based upon the witness's

---

<sup>1</sup> *See also State v. Callahan*, 87 Wn. App. 925, 934, 943 P.2d 676 (1997) (holding that the victim's "reputation for violence was not a factor affecting Callahan's perception of imminent danger and was [therefore] not admissible as evidence that Callahan's apprehension was reasonable"); *State v. Negrin*, 37 Wn. App. 516, 526, 681 P.2d 1287 (1984) (victim's reputation for violence irrelevant and inadmissible where defendant testified that he had no knowledge of it).

personal knowledge of the victim's reputation in a relevant community during a relevant time period. *Callahan* at 934 (citing *State v. Riggs*, 32 Wn.2d 281, 284, 201 P.2d 219 (1949)). And while ER 405(a) allows for reputation evidence whenever a trait of character is otherwise admissible, ER 405(b) limits admissibility of specific instances of conduct to those situations where character of a person is an essential element of the defense. Character of the victim is not an essential element of self-defense. *State v. Alexander*, 52 Wn. App. 897, 901, 765 P.2d 321, 324 (1988) (distinguishing between admissible character evidence and inadmissible specific acts for the purpose of asserting self-defense).

Alden was not seeking to introduce evidence of the victim's reputation, he was seeking to introduce the victim's specific acts. Therefore, the cases cited by Alden stating that reputation evidence may be admissible, despite a defendant being unaware of it, are inapplicable. Rather, as made clear by the holdings in *Adamo*, *LeFaber*, and *Walker*, specific acts of the victim are only admissible if they are known to the defendant at the time he committed the crime. Because this was exactly how the trial court ruled, no error occurred.

Even if the court did err by excluding some of the victim's acts, the error was harmless. "The improper admission of evidence constitutes

harmless error if evidence is of minor significance in reference to overall, overwhelming evidence as a whole.” *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997).

In the present case, the large majority of the victim’s acts and behavior that night were admitted by the court. That is to say, the jury heard in great detail about the victim’s belligerent and sometimes aggressive behavior during the night. Instead of Alden being precluded from offering any evidence regarding the victim’s behavior, he was allowed to introduce most of the victim’s behavior that night.<sup>2</sup> The only evidence excluded involved the victim’s acts for which Alden had no knowledge. As such, the excluded evidence was of minor significance in reference to the overall evidence presented to the jury.

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when limiting evidence of Alden’s reputation for peacefulness.

In general, evidence of a trait of character offered by an accused is only admissible if it is relevant. ER 404(a)(1); *City of Kennewick v. Day*, 142 Wn.2d 1, 6, 11 P.3d 304, 307 (2000) (citing *State v. Eakins*, 127 Wn.2d 490, 495, 902 P.2d 1236 (1995)). Specifically, character evidence of peacefulness may be relevant to show that either (1) a defendant did not

---

<sup>2</sup> See e.g., RP 386-87, 390, 395, 400-02, 404, 435, 439-44, 448, 457, 560, 605-07, 610, 612-13, 637, 639, 643, 645



commit the act he is accused of, and/or (2) that he lacked the requisite mental state at the time of the act. *Eakins* at 499.

However before admission, “a witness offering reputation testimony must [first] lay a foundation establishing that the subject’s reputation is based on perceptions in the community.” *Callahan* at 682 (citing ER 608(a)). Personal opinion is insufficient. *State v. Land*, 121 Wn.2d 494, 500, 851 P.2d 678 (1993) (holding that a work community could constitute a community for purposes of admitting reputation evidence). The Washington Supreme Court in *Land* articulated the high burden a proponent has when seeking to admit reputation evidence:

To establish a valid community, the party seeking to admit the reputation evidence must show that the community is both neutral and general . . . Some relevant factors might include the frequency of contact between members of the community, the amount of time a person is known in the community, the role a person plays in the community, and the number of people in the community. The decision as to whether the foundation for a valid community has been established rests within the proper discretion of the trial court.

*Land* at 500. A trial court’s decision regarding the sufficiency of this foundation is reviewed for abuse of discretion, and a trial court only abuses its discretion when it acts in a manner that is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons. *Id.*

Family members do not constitute a neutral community. *State v. Gregory*, 158 Wn.2d 759, 804, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006). In holding that family members of the defendant could not constitute a community, the Washington Supreme Court reasoned that “[t]he inherent nature of familial relationships often precludes family members from providing an unbiased and reliable evaluation of one another.” *Id.* Although not specifically mentioned by the trial court, the reasoning in *Gregory* is equally applicable in the present case: the inability of family members to elicit unbiased and reliable evaluations applies equally to Alden’s close friends.

In the present case, the court denied Alden’s request to admit reputation evidence on the basis that the requisite foundation had not been laid. RP 184-85. Alden moved the court to allow his friends to testify about his general character as a non-violent person for the time they had known him. The court found that on this basis alone, there was an insufficient “community” from which reputation evidence could be used:

The Court: I don’t believe that his friends that he associates with, etcetera, constitutes a community. And if, they can have some testimony that constitutes an appropriate community, then I think as defined by *State v. [Thach]* (phonetic) and primarily *State v. Callahan*, a valid community must be neutral enough and generalized enough to be classed as a community. In that particular case it was *Weyerhauser*, they allowed it, 1,100 people he worked with, worked sometimes seven days a week. The family in

and of itself of the Defendant was not a natural community. So if they can develop—I don't doubt that it's relevant, but they need to develop a community.

RP 184-84.

The court found that Alden's friends, without further elaboration as to what this community consisted of, did not constitute an adequate community for admitting reputation testimony. The court did leave open the possibility of reconsidering the motion if Alden subsequently laid an adequate foundation. Ultimately, the court did not abuse its discretion in denying Alden's motion, nor did the court act in a manner that was manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds.

Even if the court erred in excluding evidence of Alden's reputation, it was harmless. The evidence overwhelmingly showed that Alden intended to shoot the victim. Alden even testified at trial and admitted he intended to shoot the gun (rather than it simply being an accident). RP 1200.

Furthermore any error was harmless because Alden was ultimately able to introduce evidence of his reputation for peacefulness through multiple witnesses, despite the court's prior ruling.<sup>3</sup>

C. The jury instructions properly included all elements of the offense of Murder in the Second Degree.

---

<sup>3</sup> See e.g., RP 444-45, 556, 865.

As Alden correctly asserts, it is error to not include all essential elements in the “to-convict” instruction. The elements of Murder in the Second Degree are that the defendant, “with intent to cause the death of another person but without premeditation, he or she causes the death of such person or of a third person.” RCW 9A.32.050(1)(a). If such an error is present it does not mandate automatic reversal as Alden argues. “An erroneous jury instruction that omits an element of the offense is subject to harmless error analysis.” *State v. Brown*, 147 Wn.2d 330, 58 P.3d 889 (2002) (adopting the U.S. Supreme Court holding in *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 9, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed.2d 35 (1999)); *see also State v. Kirwin*, 166 Wn. App. 659, 669, 271 P.3d 310 (2012) (omitted element in to-conviction instruction subject to harmless error analysis).

1. It is proper to include self-defense as a separate instruction rather than including it in the to-convict instruction.

Washington’s prior jurisprudence includes some inconsistency about whether the burden of disproving certain defenses (such as self-defense) should be set forth in the to-convict instruction. However, the Washington Supreme Court clarified this ambiguity almost three decades ago: “We now believe that the better practice is simply to give a separate instruction clearly informing the jury that the State has the burden of

proving the absence of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Acosta*, 101 Wn.2d 612, 622, 683 P.2d 1069 (1984).

The issue of where the self-defense burden should be included in the instructions was further clarified in *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d 51, 804 P.2d 577 (1991). In *Hoffman*, the court held there was no error in leaving the self-defense burden out of the “to-convict” instruction and instead including it in a separate instruction:

Defendants argue that the self-defense instructions must be part of the ‘to-convict’ instruction which sets forth the elements of the crime of murder in the first degree. We disagree. As emphasized above, the jury was instructed to consider the instructions as a whole. No prejudicial error occurs when the instructions taken as a whole properly instruct the jury on the applicable law. The self-defense instructions properly informed the jury that the State bore the burden of proving the absence of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. In giving a separate instruction on self-defense, which included the State’s burden of proof on self-defense, the trial court followed the method for instructing juries recommended by the Washington Supreme Court Committee on Jury Instructions . . . We perceive no error in this instructional mode.

*Hoffman* at 109; see also *State v. Meggyesy*, 90 Wn. App. 693, 705, 958 P.2d 319 (1998) (holding that self-defense need not be included in “to convict” instruction as long as instructions as a whole properly instruct the jury). Neither *Acosta* nor *Hoffman* has been overturned, and both are controlling.

Despite the Washington Supreme Court's express approval of using a separate jury instruction for self-defense in *Hoffman*, Alden cites five post-*Hoffman* cases to support his initial argument that the burden of proving self-defense should be inclusively contained in one instruction (the "to-convict" instruction).<sup>3</sup> However none of these cases overturn *Hoffman*. Furthermore, none of the five cases even address the present issue of where the self-defense burden should be included in the instructions. Rather all five stand for the general, uncontroverted point that relieving the State of proving one or more of the essential elements of a crime (by omitting it) is error (and as held in *Brown*, subject to harmless error analysis).

In the present case, the State was not relieved of its burden of proving every element of the crime of Murder in the Second Degree. And in compliance with the holdings in *Acosta* and *Hoffman*, the State in the present case properly included both a "to-convict" instruction with the essential elements of Murder in the Second Degree and a separate self-defense instruction. CP 313, 321. Neither instruction deviated from its respective Washington Pattern Jury Instruction. See WPIC 16.02, 27.02.

---

<sup>3</sup> Post-*Hoffman* cases cited by Alden include *State v. Eastmond*, 129 Wn.2d 497, 503, 919 P.2d 577 (1996); *State v. Aumick*, 126 Wn.2d 422, 894 P.2d 1325 (1995); *State v. Smith*, 131 Wn.2d 258, 930 P.2d 917 (1997); *State v. Mills*, 154 Wn.2d 1, 7, 109 P.3d 415 (2005); *State v. Oster*, 147 Wn.2d 141, 147, 52 P.3d 26 (2002).

2. Even if the court erred by including self-defense as a separate instruction, Alden invited the error at trial and is thus prohibited from now asking for reversal.

Even if this Court finds that including the self-defense instruction as a separate instruction was error, the error is subject to the invited error doctrine, as well as harmless error analysis.

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